
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Tuesday, 4 June 2019 at 6.00 pm

Civic SuiteCivic Suite

(Board Pre-meeting from 17.00 onwards followed by a Committee Meal

Witnesses can partake in the committee meal from 17.15onwards. 

Children’s Services, Education & 
Skills Scrutiny Board

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors A Adeyemo, S Ashraf MBE, 
K Blunt, M Brain, J Butler, M Gough, 
J Hamilton, R Holt, A Mackenzie, 
L McCarthy, A Rebeiro, P Thomas, 
Mrs K Wild, Hildreth, Mrs E Clark, Mr B Hall 
and S Wood

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Jane Game
Tel: 0121 704 6051
Email: 

Date Date Not Specified

CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 
Tuesday, 4 June 2019

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies.

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS 

To receive declarations of interest from Members in accordance with the Code 
of Conduct (Members are directed to the guidance attached.)

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To deal with any questions or deputations received.

4. MINUTES - 14TH  MARCH 2019 (Pages 5 - 12)

For the Scrutiny Board to receive the minutes of the meeting held on 14th March 
2019

5. CHILDREN SERVICES, EDUCATION AND SKILLS PRIORITIES (Pages 13 - 
20)

For the Scrutiny Board to consider the Children’s Services and Education 
Directorate priorities and the priorities of the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services

6. NEW LOCAL CHILDREN'S SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP 



ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 21 - 26)

For the Scrutiny Board to be advised of the new LCSP arrangements and look at 
how they can strengthen their relationship with this body. 

7. CSESSB WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020 (Pages 27 - 34)

For the Scrutiny Board to consider and finalise their CSESSB Work Plan for 
2019/2020 Municipal Year following on from the Work Planning event that took 
place in May 2019



CHIDLREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION AND SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD 

1 

14th MARCH 2019

DRAFT MINUTES

Present: Cllrs A Mackiewicz, (Chairman), J Hulland (V Chairman), B Holmes, D Cole, M 
Gough, J Hamilton, L McCarthy, A Mackenzie, P Thomas, M Wilson, G Sleigh, Mr 
B Hall. 

Councillor K Meeson, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Skills was in 
attendance. 

Officers/
Witnesses:

Support 
Officer

Louise Rees, Director of Children’s Services and Skills 
Frank McSheffery, Interim Assistant Director, Children’s Service
Julie Hackett, Head of Service, Children and Young People’s Commissioning 
Nicki Gilbert, Team Leader, Engage – Community 
Kawoon Bik, Youth Council Representative
Leanne Quinney, Youth Council Representative
Natasha Chamberlain, Education Improvement Advisor – Health and Wellbeing 
Dr Halit Hulusi, Principal Educational Psychologist
Helen Dyer, Team Leader – School Nursing Service, South Warwickshire NHS 
Trust (SWFT)
Marie Holden, Area Manager, Out of Hospital Collaborative (SWFT)
Denise Milnes, Senior Public Health Specialist 

Mala Mistry, Scrutiny Officer 

1. APOLOGIES 

None received 

2. DECLARATION OF PUCUNIARY / CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Cllr A Mackiewicz declared an interest in his capacity as AMPA Associates Ltd  and 
the fact his company had done some ecological work in Solihull schools.  

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS

The Scrutiny Officer advised that no questions had been received 

4. MINUTES – 15th JANUARY 2019

The Board considered the accuracy of the minutes of the last meeting held on 15th 
January 2019. The Scrutiny Officer advised that she would correct the entitled date of 
the last meeting. 

RESOLVED
That the minutes of the Children’s Services, Education and Skills 
Scrutiny Board held on 15th January 2019 was approved as an 
accurate record of the meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

5. MENTAL HEALTH AND EMOTIONAL WELLBEING IN SOLIHULL 

The Chairman introduced the item highlighting that the Board had a real interest in 
exploring children’s mental health and emotional wellbeing issues and, as result had 
done a number of evidence-gathering activities in preparation for the meeting. This 
included meeting with the Youth Council, visiting a secondary school (Smiths Wood 
Academy) to understand their approach to Mental health and visiting Solar to 
understand the work they were doing as the mental health and emotional wellbeing 
provider for children and young people in the Borough. In order to be focused, he 
advised that for this particular meeting, they would be looking at two key areas;

 How education/schools support children and young people with mental heath and 
emotional wellbeing 

 What come could be done to support others i.e parents, carers to better support 
children and young people with mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

He advised witnesses to keep their presentations between 5-7minutes so that there 
was adequate time for the Scrutiny Board to consider the information and ask 
questions, 

Overarching mental health and emotional wellbeing report

The Scrutiny Board heard from the Head of Service, Children’s Commissioning who 
provided them with a brief overview of the report of the Director of Children’s Services 
and Skills. She highlighted the Local Transformation Plan and NHS Long Term Plan 
underpinned the direction of travel for mental health services in the Borough. She also 
outlined how Solar offered a service ‘without tiers’ and that there was a crisis team that 
was operational from 8.00am to 8.00pm with (24hours pilot being carried out in 
conjunction with Heartlands Hospital. She made reference to the fact that Solar had 
turned around their performance and were currently recognised by CQC as having a 
good service. She also explained that they were a unique service as the Solar as a 
health service had fully integrated with their partners Barnardos and Autism West 
Midlands to offer a broad service model that was exceeding NHS access targets. 

The Head of Service also highlighted the recent prevalence data indicating that young 
people were increasingly presenting with mental health issues the older they got. The 
Head of Service also highlighted the recent prevalence data indicating that young 
people were increasingly presenting with mental health issues the older they got. She 
also outlined key achievements and developments that are with Kooth (online support 
tool) that was working well and the success of five ways café. She also advised of key 
priorities over the next five years including tailored support for people with learning 
disabilities and further embedding a systems wide approach to mental health and 
emotional wellbeing. 

The Chairman commented that report highlighted some real positive progress that had 
been made in supporting people with mental health needs. He suggested based on 
evidence gathered during the site visit that had taken place that day that another area 
for improvement was in the area of transitions as it had been highlighted that the 
information flow between secondary schools and primary schools wasn’t always there. 
He indicated that a way of tackling this would be for secondary schools to follow the 
Smiths Wood model and visit the feeder schools and talk to the year 6 class teachers 
about each pupil.   To ensure that they had knowledge of potential issues and 
therefore could be better prepared to support these pupils during transition. In 
response, the Head of Children’s Commissioning acknowledged that better 
information sharing between schools needed to be strengthened but the views of 
parents/young people needed would have to be considered in to take account of 
confidentiality. 

Page 6



 

Youth Council presentation

Representatives from the Youth Council fed back from the ‘You in Mind’ Conference 
that had been organized on 15th October by key members of the Youth Council, OVOS 
(Our Voice, Our Services) and the SEND Council) using a budget of £6,500 with a aim 
of raising the profile of mental health awareness across the Borough. They asked a 
number of questions as part of the day which revealed that there was a 96% increase 
in knowledge of support services available and 66% increase in talking about issues. 
Some other issues that were flagged up during the conference were issues around 
confidentiality, waiting times and accessibility and improving communication between 
different services. 

The young people highlighted that there were a number of recommendations 
emerging from the conference that would need to be addressed in the future including 
the need to better promote services, clearer guidance on confidentiality, shorter 
waiting times, services talking to one another and more inclusion support for service 
users. Other things that they would be working on would be encouraging all schools to 
follow-up on young people’s pledges and possibly holding another mini-conference to 
evaluate progress. 

The Cabinet Member indicated that he had been at the event and he congratulated the 
young people who had dedicated a lot of time to pull the event together. 

The Scrutiny Board was asked to consider this information 

A Member noted that there was such a plethora of mental health information and a 
variety of people/organisations who could offer support. He inquired whether young 
people felt confident that that they knew how exactly where to get the specific 
information/guidance they were looking for. In response, Head of Children’s Mental 
Health highlighted that appropriate advice and guidance was given to teachers as part 
of mental health first aid training and to parents via online forums. Posters had been 
produced to be placed on the back of toilet doors so that young people could get 
support and advice if they wanted to be more discreet. The Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services and Skills indicated that young people needed to access mental 
health information in a variety of ways and specifically mentioned the arrangements 
made by the council with Kooth which provides a confidential on-line counselling 
service that young people can access anonymously. Whilst not directly part of Solar it 
can signpost or refer to the service.

The Chairman highlighted the need for information to be provided to parents so that 
they could better help their child. A youth council representative recounted an 
experience where they were more worried about telling their parents about their 
anxiety issues for fear of worrying them. Therefore she concurred that parents did 
need support. In response, the Head of children’s commissioning indicated that more 
information did need to be made available to parents and teachers so that they could 
be more equipped to support young people to get the right support. 

Presentation on Healthy Schools

The Scrutiny Board received a PowerPoint presentation from Education Improvement 
Advisor who indicated that teaching and learning of mental health and emotional 
wellbeing was embedded as part of the healthy schools programme and would be 
included on the curriculum as part of Personal Health and Social Education (PHSE) 
offer. The majority of the schools in Solihull had obtained healthy school status and 
this was regularly revalidated. She also advised that local authority funded the Health-
related Behaviour Questionnaire (HRBQ) and provided schools with support in 

Page 7



 

adopting and embedding a whole school approach to health and wellbeing. Some of 
their interventions included advising on teaching and learning, ensuring that leadership 
and management has a strong oversight of emotional wellbeing issues, supporting the 
development of school policies to better reflect recent statutory guidelines, facilitating 
strong links with SEND and safeguarding agenda and ensuring that school governors 
have strategic oversight of the wellbeing agenda. 

The Education Improvement Advisor advised of some of the initiatives that schools 
were using to proactively address emotional wellbeing issues and other ways the 
Local Authority were offering support. These included the following;
 Using Jigsaw to promote healthy mental health and mindfulness
 Support to schools to deliver a comprehensive and engaging PHSE programme. 
 The Health and wellbeing website has a range of tools to support young people 

and have resources for teachers. 
 Regular training courses for governors on their health and wellbeing role. 
 Mental Health first aid training was being rolled out in widely in schools and there 

had been positive feedback. 

The Scrutiny Board was asked to comment on this report. 

The Chairman commented that the evidence from the site visit demonstrated that 
young people do engage with PHSE lessons if they are delivered in a meaningful and 
engaging way. He also highlighted the need for Mental Health First Aid training to be 
delivered in partnership. Another Member indicated the mental health first aid training 
should cover Child Sexual Exploitation issues and PHSE may also cover issues in 
respect of ‘county lines.’ In response, the Education Improvement Advisor highlighted 
that the CSE and county lines was a key component of new statutory framework and 
training would be strengthened in the coming months. 

A Member asked about how school supported the wider family with mental health 
needs as it was acknowledged that the wider family network may need support. In 
response, the Education Improvement advised that there schools were conscious of 
this and they were increasingly working on initiatives that encouraged the child and 
family to solve issues and challenges such as the development of parent-carer forums. 

The Chairman commented on the need for schools to be more flexible and make 
reasonable adjustments to support young people to be individuals. The Education 
Improvement Advisor, Health and Wellbeing acknowledged the point and indicated 
that the ethos and environment in every school should be about encouraging good 
mental health. 

Education Psychology Service 

The Board heard from the newly appointed head of the Education Psychology (EP) 
service who outlined that the role of EP was to provide specialist therapeutic skills and 
fulfil a statutory duty by providing psychological advice to Education, Care and Health 
Plans. He advised that currently members of his team were supporting the 
development and ratification of over 300 ECHPs and there are ambitions to encourage 
more out of Borough placements to be supported within the Borough and there was 
scope to develop a traded service model with school. Furthermore he advises strong 
links and positive working relationship with Solar has developed. 

He advised that some of the work that EP would be involved with included. Individual 
therapeutic work, group support and supporting organisations through emotions 
coaching, curriculum design, helping to develop the inclusion charter and encouraging 
the work with families as a whole. 

Page 8



 

The Scrutiny Board was asked to comment on this report. 

Members identified bereavement as a key issue affecting young people and inquired 
how the EP would provide support in dealing with this issue. In response, the Head of 
EP advised that when a child had suffered bereavement, EP service would be on hand 
to support the Headteacher on how the support the whole school in coping with a 
bereavement and possible support may be provided to staff/pupils who may need 
support. 

A Member also enquired about why more girls experiencing mental health issues than 
boys between the ages of 17 -19. In response, Head of EP service advised that social 
media was likely to be contributory factor and the fact that there was so much demand 
to look and behave in a certain way. There was also a lot of pressure around 
perfection and body image and there needed to be system-wide, multi-faceted 
approach to addressing these issues. 

In a response to a question about EP’s location and priorities in respect of schools, the 
Head of EP emphasized that it was Borough-wide service and schools needed to 
focus on empowering others and the Service would be developing their traded service 
with schools over the 12 months and supporting them to find solutions. 

School Nursing Service 

The Scrutiny Board heard from the representatives of the school nursing service who 
highlighted that there were 14FTE in the team (with 10FTE qualified School Nurses) in 
the Borough who had a link with every secondary school in the Borough and every GP 
surgery in the Borough. It was advised that all of the schools nurses had completed 
mental health training and there were strong links established with Solar. The Service 
could accept direct referrals and offered a health needs assessment at Year 6 and 
Year 9 and the Service offered drop in services in secondary and primary schools and 
could offer individual or school wide support.  They advised that they had provided 
intervention (face-to-face and information) to more Year 6 than Year 9 pupils.

They advised that one of their key services that was being increasingly used was 
ChatHealth available from 8.00am to 6.00pm. This was an anonymous texting service 
but often what may start of as a text conversation would often lead to a face-to-face 
appointment. This method has been useful in supporting young people who weren’t 
very forthcoming or who had been experiencing suicidal thoughts. Members were 
assured that escalation processes were in place should the Police need to be 
involved. The Service also had a Twitter account to increase their visibility with 
schools. The service often held information session for primary school children in 
community venues to make them more accessible to parents and also participated in 
themed assemblies. Overall a lot of work had been done to increase their visibility, 
particularly with the use of ChatHealth in light of comments made at the last Scrutiny 
meeting. 

The Scrutiny Board was asked to comment and ask questions on this report. 

Members noted the fact that during their visit to Smiths Wood Academy, it was clear 
that there wasn’t a strong visible presence from the school nurse as the pupils did not 
know who they were. Members also inquired further about how the school nursing 
service was being proactive about promoting itself, building relationships with the 
schools’ Senior Leadership Team. In response, the Team Leader, School Nursing 
Service advised that little cards had been produced to promote ChatHealth which were 
handed out in schools. They also went on radio shows in order to further increase 
raise their profile in the local community. The Team Leader highlighted that the 
Service normally had a good relationship with the school Senior Leadership Team 

Page 9



 

often offering its staff pastoral care and participating in PHSE lessons. 

A Member highlighted that in her experience, the school nurses needed to be more 
visible in primary schools as a visit once a term did not lead to effective relationship 
building with the schools and parents. She reiterated because the time was limited, a 
wider spectrum of parents could not have access to the school nurse. Another 
Member inquired about the resources and capacity within the school nursing service 
and whether this was sufficient. In response, the Team Leader, School Nurse Service 
advised that there were 14FTE who visited each school every fortnight and usually 
held drop in sessions at lunchtimes as it was time that young people could access 
their service. The Service was reliant on the school and was affected by school ‘gate 
keeping.’  It was highlighted that the expenditure position was challenging. The 
Chairman highlighted that there could be scope for schools to better integrate the 
school nursing service within their system and pool resources from school nurses 
service so that they can be a key contributor in offering mental health support.  It was 
suggested that the school forum may also be able to offer support. 

Parenting Strategy 

The Scrutiny Board heard from Senior Public Health Specialist about the development 
of parenting strategy in the Borough. She highlighted that an overarching aim would 
be to facilitate parent-child attachment during two key windows in a child’s life, from 0 
– age 0-3 and age 10-14 which would lead to better stability, healthier relationships 
across the life course, less impact from trauma in childhood, reduced violence, 
reduced addictions and less mental health challenges. She also outlined the 
development of the parenting strategy that had three main strands;

 Solihull Approach Online offer –free courses available for 
parents/carers/grandparents/others (unlimited numbers can access the offer) 
online. 

 Solihull Approach Face-to-face offer – this ranged for ante-natal classes, postnatal 
classes and ‘Understanding Your Child’s Behaviour’ courses all co-ordinated by 
Solar 

 Empowering Parents Empowering Communities (EPEC) Peer offer – volunteer 
parents leading parenting courses in a national project funded by NESTA where 
parents are being trained in the north and west of the Borough to deliver to 
vulnerable families particularly where there are children with behavioral issues 
aged 2 to 11. There are 16 volunteer parents who are able to run courses and the 
implementation of the model has been seen as successful. 

The Scrutiny Board was asked to comment on this report. 

Members acknowledged that more needed to be done to provide help and support to 
parents to better support the development of their child.  Parents also needed to be 
supported to manage their own mental health needs so that they did not adversely 
impact their children. 

A Member asked for more information about how the EPEC courses were promoted 
and what could be done to tackle the stigma of parents doing online course. She also 
drew the Board’s attention to mum’s and dad’s facebook page which has 13,000 
followers and suggested that information about parenting courses could be made 
available on there in order to raise their profile. In response, the Senior Public Health 
Specialist indicated that that the EPEC courses were promoted in a variety of places 
such as Solar and via family-related activities and the health information hubs. She 
explained that awareness was developing organically through worth of mouth. In 
respect of tackling the stigma of parents attending courses, she acknowledged that 
there was work to do change the culture but was confident that this would change 

Page 10



 

through word of mouth and community resilience.

In response to a query of raised by the Youth Council Representative about the 
continuation of the youth council as it was highlighted that there was work to be done 
but they were aware that Youth Council had not been given a role within the new 
structure, the new Director of Children’s Services and Skills reiterated that the work of 
the Youth Council would be continued and embedded within the new family support 
service and emerging stronger communities teams. 

The Chairman summarised the discussion indicating that although lots of good work 
had been done, there was still more to do particularly with strengthening mental health 
awareness in primary schools and amongst parents/carers. He suggested that the 
recommendations would facilitate shaping improvements. 

RESOLVED
The Scrutiny Board note the progress made in supporting mental health and emotional 
wellbeing and makes the following RECOMMENDATIONS to the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services & Skills and Senior Officers to further develop and improve 
services in the Borough. 

a). To encourage better information flow between primary school and 
secondary school as a means of supporting smoother transition and 
ensuring that issues are identified early. 
b). To encourage more mental health awareness and information within a 
boarder range of primary schools across the Borough
c). Encourage innovative approaches to teaching PHSE curriculum, 
particularly mental health and emotional wellbeing to keep children and 
young people engaged. 
d). To encourage schools to consider reasonable adjustments and 
flexibility to help young people with their needs. 
e). To strengthen the support offered to parents/families to enable them to 
better provide support and early intervention to young people with low-level 
mental health needs. 
f). To ensure a wide range of organisations who work with young people have 
access to co-ordianted mental health and emotional wellbeing information 
so that they can offer guidance and support. 
g). To ensure that Educational psychologists are embedded in schools, 
particularly primary schools and are able to provide the full range of 
support. 
h). That school nurses strengthen their visibility and support to primary 
schools. 
i). That schools consider how the school nursing / health service can be 
better integrated into their system to support mental health and emotional 
wellbeing. 
j). To explore whether better co-ordinated mental health and emotional 
wellbeing sign-posting information could be available on key portals such as 
ParentPay and pupil Homework portals.

(Cllr Hamilton, Cllr Cole and Cllr Wilson left at 19.40)

Page 11



 

6 SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATOINS – IMPACT AND EFFECTIVENESS

The Chairman introduced this item highlighting that it had been put on the agenda so 
that Scrutiny Board to evaluate their impact and effectiveness in making 
recommendations to the Executive over the past two Municipal Year. He asked the 
Scrutiny Board to consider each of the recommendations in turn. 

The Chairman sought reassurance on whether the recommendations made on 6th 
November 2017 about options being made available to pupils aged 14 were being 
taken forward. In response, the Director of Children Services and Skills advised that 
she had had a very useful meeting with employment and skills manager about 
providing timely and independent information to young people to enable them to make 
positive choices. She undertook to come back to the Scrutiny Board on the detail of 
their recommendations but felt that every child should have the option of a range of 
choices in life. 

The Chairman also raised the recommendation made on 15th January 2018 and the 
fact that it was disappointing that the Highways department were not able to offer 
social workers exemption from parking restrictions to enable them to do their jobs 
more efficiently and with better safety and suggested that the work of Camden Council 
is explored as they operate such a scheme relatively successfully. In response, the 
Interim Assistant Director, Children’s Services acknowledged the disappointment and 
indicated that some short term parking had been made available but he would explore 
the scheme in Camden and further consult with Highways. 

Member inquired about the Government’s decision to grant Autism free school for up 
to 100 places. In response, the Director of Chlidren’s Services and Skills advised that 
applications for the free school had been approved and the next stage would be for 
the Local Authority to publish on their website the service specification. It was 
emphasized that the procurement process would be managed by Department of 
Education as they were funding the capital costs of this project, It was also anticipated 
that the autism free school would be centre of excellence and help support the autism 
training for teachers across the Borough. 

A Member highlighted that the waiting times in respect of autism assessment was 
concerning and whether anything had been done to address this. In response, it was 
advised that resources and capacity were being put in place so that people had to wait 
no more than 18 weeks for an assessment. 

The Cabinet Member highlighted that an area that the directorate were closely looking 
at was SEND transitions as there appeared to be a disparity because whilst local 
authority retained responsibility until they were 25, the health service only retained 
responsibility until a young person was 18. He acknowledged that when young adults 
had to transfer services this could be very unsettling. The Local Authority were 
continuing to explore options in respect of establishing Solar as a fully-fledged 0-25 
service.  The Chairman thanked the Cabinet Member and highlighted that the Board’s 
site visit to Solar had been successful and the Board could really see the turnaround 
that that taken place and indicated that they were well-placed to do further work on 
managing transitions. 

RESOLVED
(i). The Scrutiny Board noted the progress but indicated that they would look 
again at issues raised in the preamble in the new Municipal Year. 

The meeting finished at 8.15pm

Page 12



Meeting date: 4 June 2019

Report to: Children Education and Skills Scrutiny 
Board

Subject/report 
title:

Council Plan Priorities - Children’s Services Development & 
Innovation

Report from: Louise Rees, Director of Children’s Services

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Louise Rees, Frank McSheffrey and Phil Leivers

Wards affected: 
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 For the Scrutiny Board to consider the elements of the new programme for Children’s 
Services included in the refresh of the Council Plan for 2019-20

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To endorse the Children’s Services programme within the Council Plan 2019-20 and 
scrutinise progress made so far.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 The refresh of the Council Plan 2019-20 has included the addition of a new 
programme of activity within the Children’s Services directorate.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 There are eleven strands of activity across the directorate:

4.2 Early child development and parenting to give children the best start and 
prevent early issues from escalating.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



4.3 We are supporting Solihull early years registered settings  through annual visits to 
support self-evaluation and quality improvement. Ofsted are due to use an updated 
inspection framework from September and we are holding discussion events with 
Ofsted inspectors as guest. 

4.4 The ‘good level of development’ [GLD] continues to be in-line with national at 73%- 
Solihull [national 72%]; this is in line with our statistical neighbours. We have a strong, 
consistent moderation team of LA advisers and school based early years practitioners 
who check out the accuracy of the submission of Early Years Foundation Stage 
Profile [EYFSP] data – at least every 4 years on a cycle. We have new early learning 
goals being published next year and we plan to train and compare the two with early 
years practitioners to adjust their curriculum and assessment in line with this new 
national guidance. The goals will become statutory in 2021/2022  but schools have the 
option to adopt them a year early. 

4.5 The ‘Ages and Stages Questionnaire’ [ASQ] completed by health visitors and parents 
at 2 years old showed a higher number of children who were not yet working at 
expected stages in each of the assessed areas in Solihull than there were nationally. 
The figure for quarterly reporting in 2018/19 are much improved compared to 2017/18. 
Leaders and manager meetings have focussed upon working with parents to support 
communication and language – this aspect has increase from 70% at expected 
development levels in Solihull for quarter 4 2017/18 [and 89%nationally] to 93% 
quarter 3 in Solihull [90% national]. In 2018/19 all aspects are above national figure 
whereas they were below in the previous year. 

4.6 The LA sufficiency duty continues to be positive with Solihull numbers of 2 year olds 
receiving early education funding [EEF] at 93% which results in a ranking of 15th 
compared to all LAs and 109% for 3 and 4 year olds resulting in a ranking of 2nd 
compared to other LAs. For 2 year olds we focus our placement of children in good/ 
outstanding Ofsted graded settings which results in a LA ranking of 1st place  but 3 
and 4 year olds can be placed in settings that are not graded as good which results in 
a ranking of 103rd place. In 2019/20 schools will take over the admissions process for 
nursery places [rather than this being a centrally administered LA function]. This may 
result in a changing landscape across Solihull which has previously benefitted from all 
schools having a school run nursery class on site. More parents are choosing to keep 
their child in an early years registered provision rather than moving them to a school 
run nursery. We will continue to support early years providers to maintain quality and 
enhance their provision across Solihull through central training such as safeguarding 
and effective practice to support learning and development, and in-setting support 
more targeted to those with higher need.

4.7 Embedding our new approach to Family Support.

4.8 Following the Management of Change process, the new Family Support Service 
became operational on 1 April 2019.  The new service aims to simplify the routes into 
the service through a single front door for referrals via the MASH (Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub), rather there being separate routes depending on the level of 
need.  Social workers and family support workers, under a team manager will work 
closely and cases will be rapidly allocated according to need to ensure the most 
appropriate response. Teams are organised on a locality basis (although physically 
they are based together) to support the development of consistent relationships with 

Page 14



schools and other partners. Family support teams will be able to refer cases for 
additional support via two new, non caseholding teams - the Family Group 
Conferencing team and the Wider Exploitation team. Family Group Conferencing aims 
to help families to find their own solutions to challenges and difficulties without 
escalating through to higher levels of statutory intervention, whilst the wider 
exploitation team will work with vulnerable children and young people up to the age of 
25 to help safeguard them from sexual and criminal exploitation as well as trafficking 
and county lines (where organised crime groups use young people to transport and 
sell drugs in rural areas across county borders). The new service aims to support 
children and families and to prevent escalation into child protection and the court 
arena as well as preventing the need for children or young people to be looked after 
by the local authority.

4.9 A review of Employment and Skills to support inclusive growth.

4.10 The current Employment and Skills team relies on European Social Funding to deliver 
projects aimed at reaching those furthest from the labour market to secure 
employment. Given the Council’s commitment to inclusive growth the team are 
currently mapping out what is delivered and identifying what additionality could be 
added if core funding can be secured. 

4.11 A new exploitation service providing support up to age 25.

4.12 As referred to in 4.7 above, the Wider Exploitation Service was established at the 
beginning of April in response to concerns that vulnerable young people could be left 
without the right support to meet their needs when they reach adulthood. Child sexual 
exploitation will still be a key element of this team’s work, but it is recognised that 
young people can be vulnerable in multiple ways and that there are often links 
between the different types of exploitation.  This service will provide support to young 
people referred to them by the Family Support Service, the Child Protection and Court 
team and the Looked After Children’s teams. In addition a new set of processes and 
governance arrangements are being established in partnership with the police, health 
colleagues and schools to oversee this area of work.

4.13 Embed new arrangements for the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.

4.14 Following the review of Children’s Safeguarding Boards by Sir Alan Wood, the 
statutory safeguarding partners in an area have been given freedom and flexibility to 
determine their own arrangements around the oversgight and assurance of multi 
agency safeguarding. Such arrangements have to be in place and published by 
September 2019.  However, in Solihull, the DfE approved and funded early adopter 
status, meaning our arrangements went live and were published on 1st May 2019.

Given that Solihull’s previous Local Safeguarding Children’s Board was rated as Good 
in the 2016 Ofsted inspection, there was not a case for a radical redesign of 
arrangements as has happened in other areas. The Board will be replaced by a 
smaller Partnership of the three statutory partners (SMBC, Police and Health) and an 
education representative. The lead member for Children’s Services will now be a full 
member of the partnership rather than an associate / observer as under the previous 
arrangements.   The independent chair element has been retained - although some 
areas have moved away from this approach, the view taken in Solihull is that the 

Page 15



scrutiny and challenge from “outside the system” was important and added value and 
assurance.

The supporting sub-structure of the previous Safeguarding Board has been 
streamlined into two main groups - the Assurance and Review Group, chaired by the 
Assistant Director of Children’s Services and the Response and Delivery Group 
chaired by a senior representative from West Midlands Police.  The Safeguarding 
Children Partnership no longer has oversight of Child Death Overview arrangements 
(this is a national change rather than a local one). Solihull MBC remains in a 
partnership with Coventry and Warwickshire for the discharge of this important and 
sensitive function.

4.15 Looked after children’s placements (e.g. recruiting and retaining foster carers, 
looking at the most effective way of securing appropriate provision for those 
with the most complex needs).

Members will be aware of the pressures being caused (both in terms of meeting need, 
and financially) through the rise in Solihull’s number of looked after children in recent 
years. Whilst this is a national as well as a local issue, we know through independent 
external case audits that thresholds are appropriately applied and that children do not 
come into our care unnecessarily.

Solihull is part of regional framework arrangements for fostering and residential 
placements which are aimed at improving supply and using the collective purchasing 
power of 14 local authorities to secure good value.  The residential framework was 
retendered and a new framework commenced on 1st April 2019 so as yet it is too 
soon to reach any conclusions about its impact.  A revised Placement Sufficiency 
Strategy is close to final draft stage which will encompass the need and projected 
demand for children’s placements of differing types. We know that increasing the 
supply of foster carers for the council (rather than them choosing to foster for an 
independent agency) is a key element of our overall strategy. For the majority of the 
children in our care, a permanence plan is likely to involve foster care in a long term 
placement - ideally in the borough to maintain education and wider family links and to 
ensure that our young people remain in our communities.

This work is being developed with support from the DfE programme Partners in 
Practice, a sector-led improvement approach whereby a council rated as outstanding 
in a particular area gives support and challenge to a council seeking to improve.  This 
work has been broadly scoped around fostering and sufficiency and an initial 
development day, led by our partner council, has been organised for June 2019.

4.16 Support for care leavers.

Solihull offers good support to its care leavers but we are ambitious for them and 
seeking to improve the council‘s offer to them as their corporate parents.  Working 
with OVOS (Our Voice Our Services) our care leavers offer has been refreshed and 
improved and was launched in January 2019 with details of the various types of 
support available. This follows national changes to improve care leaver support 
through the introduction of ‘Local Offer’ for care leavers that extends local authority 
responsibilities for care leavers from 21 to 25. Through the hard work and commitment 

Page 16



of the 16+ and UASC team, Solihull performs well in comparison to regional and 
statistical neighbours for the key metrics of care leavers in education and employment 
and in suitable accommodation. This is particularly noteworthy given the significant 
proportion of our care leavers who arrived in Solihull as unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children.

The Government’s National Adviser for care leavers is making a follow up visit to 
Solihull very shortly and will be interested in and challenging us to see what 
developments and improvements there have been since his previous visit last year.  
Any recommendations will form the basis of our next steps to further improve our 
offer.

4.17 Developing our 0-25 commissioning with health partners.

4.18 The joint commissioning of services for children and young people aged 0-25 with 
special educational needs and disability (SEND) is a statutory requirement. (Childrens 
and Families Act 2014, SEND 0-25 Code of Practice 2015)

4.19 The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 aims to redesign health services 
for children and young people, “selectively moving to a ‘0-25 years’ service will 
improve children’s experience of care, outcomes and continuity of care.” There needs 
to be a move towards service models for young people that offer person-centred and 
age appropriate care for mental and physical health needs, rather than an arbitrary 
transition to adult services based on age not need. 

4.20 This is particularly important for vulnerable young people, including care leavers and 
those young people who have been subject to exploitation. The structure of mental 
health services often creates gaps for young people undergoing the transition from 
children and young people’s mental health services to appropriate support including 
adult mental health services. The NHS Long Term plan is to extend current service 
models to create a comprehensive offer for 0-25 year olds that reaches across mental 
health services for children, young people and adults.  The new model will deliver an 
integrated approach across health, social care, education and the voluntary sector.

4.21 The Local Authority already commissions some children and young people’s health 
services on behalf of the CCG through a Section 75 agreement (NHS Act  2006), 
including emotional well-being and mental health service for children and young 
people 0-19 (Solar).

4.22 Working with the department for education to deliver a new specialist autism 
school.

4.23 Solihull was successful in its bid to host an ASD Free school. The DfE have indicated 
that they prefer the north Solihull site for a new build school. A competition is now 
underway for a Trust to run the school. An engagement event for prospective bidders 
occurred on 21 May 2019 with seven Trusts attending. The successful Trust will be 
identified by January 2020 with the school likely to open September 2023 for 100 
places.

4.24 Working with our mainstream schools to improve inclusion and deliver 
appropriate support for all children and young people.

Page 17



4.25 Following a conference for all schools in October 2018 working parties have been 
meeting to develop an Inclusion Charter for all stakeholders to sign up to. This will be 
completed by June 2019. 

4.26 To support inclusion the Specialist Inclusion Service is developing a non-traded High 
Needs Social Emotional Mental Health team that will support pupils to remain within 
mainstream following the graduated approach and involving external agencies for 
severe and complex cases. 

4.27 The Education Psychology service will be fully staffed from September 2019 with nine 
psychologists offering traded and non-traded services. 

4.28 Establish the Solihull Autism Centre of Excellence.

4.29 The Centre of Excellence is not a building but an approach, a way of working and 
coordinating support to those with autism and their families.

4.30 Our vision for the centre of excellence:

 Co-ordinate existing services from a range of partner organisations.

 Improve the outcomes of autistic people.

 Use research, innovation, development and good practice to deliver 
coordinated services.

 Unique opportunity to develop something that has not been attempted before in 
the UK.

4.31 The free school will play a pivotal role in the Centre of Excellence, so a very close 
working relationship with the LA will be essential. It is hoped that there will be a 
therapeutic space where health colleagues can deliver support and family space for 
family peer support. Collaborative working to deliver outreach support and training to 
other settings within Solihull. Indeed that the specialist free school supports training 
and research, to build the skills of teaching and support staff and to develop evidence 
based interventions. Also have close links with the community and 16+ providers.

4.32 The Centre of Excellence will improve the outcomes for children and young people 
with an Autism Spectrum Disorder and their families in the borough by promoting a 
social model of disability direct the adoption of innovative collegiate approaches and 
coordinate services ensuring that the wide range of educational, health and social 
issues are addressed. In addition the Centre of Excellence will support evidenced 
based practice and research issues for autistic people and their families.

4.33 An initial workshop took place October 2018 to identify the aims and objectives and 
baseline the current position across partner organisations.

4.34 In May 2019 the steering group agreed terms of reference and set up three working 
groups 1. Research, 2. Training and development,  3. Best practice- identify and 
disseminate. Next stage is to develop an action plan with all partners and review late 
September by the steering group.

Page 18



5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 In order that Scrutiny Board has oversight of a range of improvement activities across 
Children’s Services and Skills to support the delivery of the Council Plan.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the 
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery):

☐ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

Through suporting children and young people to achieve better outcomes and to keep 
them safe.

☐ Managed Growth - 

Through supporting people into employment.

☐ Build Stronger Communities - 

☐ Deliver Value - 

Through seeking the most cost effective way of meeting need and demand.

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 The programme of activities set iut in this report are all aimed at improving the 
outcomes, safeguarding and life chances of our children and young people.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 Several of the elements of this programme of activity have already been subject to 
consultation with partners and with children and young people. The Scrutiny Board 
has also previously considered some aspects including the Autism Free School and 
support for Looked After Children and care leavers. Continuing consultation and 
scrutiny will take place at relevant stages as the programme continues.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 Funding for the strands of activity set out above is from resources within both core 
service budgets and the Dedicated Schools Grant. In some cases, additional 
resources will be available from other sources (e.g. the Department for Education for 
the Free School project).

Page 19



6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 Legal advice and input will be sought at the appropraite stages of the development 
and delivery of the programme. There are no specific implications arising from this 
report.

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 Each element of the programme will be monitored and risks logged and mitigated as 
appropriate.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 The duty will be considered within each strand of activity at any appropriate decision 
point.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 None

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 Council Plan 2019-20

Page 20



Meeting date: Tuesday 4 June 2019

Report to: Solihull Children’s Services, Education and 
Skills Scrutiny Board

Subject/report 
title:

New children’s multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.

Report from: David Peplow – Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Independent Scrutineer

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Stephen Eccleston
Interim Business Manager
Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Partnership

Wards affected: 
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is twofold. Firstly, it is to brief the Solihull Children’s 
Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board (CSESSB) on the new children’s multi-
agency safeguarding arrangements in Solihull, which have replaced the Solihull Local 
Safeguarding Children Board in line with changes introduced by the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017. Secondly, it is to provide the CSESSB with an opportunity to 
consider how they would like to retain a strong relationship with these new 
arrangements, and contribute to the scrutiny of them.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 It is recommended that the CSESSB reach a decision on how they wish to retain 
scrutiny of the new children’s multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in Solihull.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 has brought about significant change to local 
children’s multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. This Act amends certain 
safeguarding provisions within the Children Act 2004 by removing the statutory 
requirement for areas to have Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB’s). This has 
been replaced by the requirement for the safeguarding partners (which are the local 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



authority, chief officer for police and the local clinical commissioning group for the 
area) to make arrangements to safeguard children and promote their welfare within 
their area. Additionally, the safeguarding partners should name relevant agencies that 
they consider appropriate to work with in exercising their functions, and those named 
agencies then have a duty to co-operate. The legislative changes introduce a great 
degree of flexibility as to how the three safeguarding partners achieve these 
responsibilities.

3.2 The Department for Education require that all areas must have agreed and published 
their new multi-agency child safeguarding arrangements by 29th June 2019 at the 
latest, and have adopted those arrangements as their way of working by 29th 
September 2019. Solihull are one of a small number of areas across England who 
have worked with the Department for Education as an ‘early adopter’, and we 
published and moved to working to our new arrangements on Wednesday 1st May 
2019, well ahead of the date set by the Department for Education. This benefits all 
those areas that are still in the development phase by providing a possible model and 
guidance for other areas across the country, and has also placed Solihull at the 
forefront of these important national developments.

The Solihull arrangements have been subject of considerable discussion and design 
involving all partners involved in the current structure. This work has resulted in the 
published arrangements as set out on our website, and available via a link on the front 
page (https://solihulllscp.co.uk/). As can be seen, each of the three safeguarding 
partners carries a considerable responsibility in ensuring the effectiveness of these 
new arrangements.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 The local impact of the legislative changes to multi-agency child safeguarding 
arrangements was first considered by Solihull LSCB Board members in a 
development session in January 2018, which focused on how Solihull partners might 
respond to these changes and the opportunities presented to improve on the 
effectiveness of the current Board arrangements. All Solihull LSCB activities were 
considered individually in the context of their effectiveness in supporting the delivery 
of efficient and effective child safeguarding arrangements. This process led to the new 
model being developed, which is intended to promote a more dynamic and flexible 
approach to continuous improvement within our children’s safeguarding 
arrangements.

4.2 As can be seen a ‘board’ type body, the ‘Local Safeguarding Children Partnership’ 
(LSCP), is retained within the arrangements. The LSCP is responsible for ensuring the 
arrangements run efficiently and effectively and partner agencies are engaging as 
they should, and members sit at the executive level of their respective organisations.

4.3 The development of these new arrangements has included particular consideration of 
both the framework for independent scrutiny, and the strength of contribution of 
schools, early years and other education providers in Solihull in view of their 
importance to safeguarding children. Independent scrutiny is provided by both internal 
and external mechanisms, and schools, early years and other education providers will 
retain their own forum within the safeguarding arrangements, with a direct route into 

Page 22

https://solihulllscp.co.uk/


the LSCP via their own representative. Further detail can be found within the attached 
document.

4.4 As all local authority areas are subject of the responsibilities of the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017 and so find themselves redesigning their partnership arrangements, 
there is little evidence available to inform this work or indicate ‘best practice’. Due 
regard has been taken however of other ‘early adopter’ areas and the learning 
available from those, and where opportunities have presented, Solihull have 
collaborated with other ‘early adopter’ work, for example with our move to child 
safeguarding practice reviews as part of the wider West Midlands project. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 This model for the future multi-agency children’s safeguarding arrangements was 
chosen as the preferred option for the following reasons;

 It provides for a more ‘learning focused’ and flexible approach to improving 
children’s safeguarding arrangements in Solihull.

 It retains the engagement of Solihull partners within the arrangements.
 It retains the strengths of the previous Solihull Local Safeguarding Children 

Board arrangements (for example the multi-agency audit process and training 
offer)

 It focuses activity on the delivery of improvements in line with the partners’ 
safeguarding priorities.

 It has a robust independent scrutiny framework.
 It is compliant with the legislative requirements of the Children and Social Work 

Act 2017 and the statutory guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 
– July 2018’.

 It delivers all of the above within the agreed multi-agency funding arrangements 
for the current Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Board.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the 
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery):

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing – Effective multi-agency children’s safeguarding 
arrangements contribute to protecting the wellbeing of children and young 
people in Solihull, with a particular focus on the current priority areas of neglect, 
child exploitation and early help for children.

☐ Managed Growth - 

☐ Build Stronger Communities - 

☐ Deliver Value - 

Page 23



6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 These arrangements ensure effective oversight of the multi-agency arrangements for 
the safeguarding of children and young people in Solihull, and the promotion of their 
welfare. This in turn will ensure that agencies are working together to ensure an 
efficient and effective response to children and young people at risk of or subject to 
harm.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 These arrangements have been subject of extensive consultation with all partner 
members of the current Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Board, and the original 
concept for them was developed at an event attended by representatives from all 
partner agencies represented on the then Solihull LSCB. 

6.3.2 The development of these arrangements was guided by a Project Steering Group 
which included all safeguarding partner representatives and the Lead Member, and 
have been presented to other ‘early adopter’ areas from across England for 
consultation at a Department for Education event.

6.3.3 The final draft arrangements were scrutinised by the full Solihull Local Safeguarding 
Children Board on 12th March 2019. They have also been presented to the Solihull 
Safeguarding Adult Board as part of the consultation.

6.3.4 In addition the arrangements were considered by the Solihull MBC, West Midlands 
Police and Birmingham and Solihull Clinical Commissioning Group internal 
governance arrangements.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 Funding for the Partnership is referenced in s11 of the proposed arrangements, which 
are available on the LSCP website (link provided in paragraph 3.2 above). SMBC’s 
contribution is budgeted for within the Children’s Services and Skills portfolio.

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 In addition to the need under the Children and Social Work Act 2017 to move to new 
arrangements, there is a statutory requirement within ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children – July 2018’ that the published arrangements contain certain details, for 
example how the arrangements with be independently scrutinised, the geographic 
boundaries for the arrangements, and a list of named ‘relevant agencies’. The 
attached document is compliant with these statutory requirements.

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 Safeguarding children is everyone’s responsibility, and effective multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements rely upon the active involvement of all agencies in those 
arrangements. The implications of these arrangements not being implemented or 
failing to work effectively are that the efficiency and effectiveness of children’s 
safeguarding in Solihull will be undermined.

Page 24



6.6.2 This risk is being mitigated in a number of ways. Firstly, the planning and consultation 
that has preceded these arrangements has sought to ensure continued strong multi-
agency working practices. Secondly, those working practices of the Solihull LSCB 
which were recognised as very strong practice have been retained within these new 
arrangements. Thirdly, an independent external peer review of the arrangements has 
been arranged for October 2019 to allow any developing risks as a result of the new 
system to be identified at a very early stage. This peer review is to be conducted by 
subject experts from the Local Government Association. Finally, all key positions 
within the new arrangements are filled by senior safeguarding partner representatives 
with extensive experience in multi-agency safeguarding practice.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 The new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements allow the flexibility to respond to 
emerging risks to particular groups and communities should the need be identified. 

6.7.2 Within the arrangements, all partner agencies retain their own responsibility to 
discharge their duties in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Link (https://solihulllscp.co.uk/) - Arrangements for Safeguarding Children and Young 
People in Solihull

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 There are a considerable number of relevant documents associated with this work, 
including LSCB and project steering group minutes, consultation documents, and 
project management documents.

Page 25

https://solihulllscp.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: Tuesday 4th June 2019

Report to: Children’s Services, Education and Skills 
Scrutiny Board (CSESSB)

Subject/report title: CSESSB Scrutiny Board Work Programme 2019/20

Report from: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Report author/lead 
contact officer:

Mala Mistry, Scrutiny Officer 
Telephone: 0121 704 6054
Email mmistry@solihull.gov.uk 

Wards affected: 

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue of 
paragraph:

NA 

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to advise the Scrutiny Board of the discussions arising out 
of the Scrutiny Work Planning Event held on 20th May 2019 and consider a proposed 
Work Plan for the forthcoming Municipal Year. 

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 The Scrutiny Board is recommended to consider the topics raised by Members at the 
Scrutiny Work Planning Event on 20th May 2019 and approve its Work Programme for 
the 2019/20 municipal year.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 A Scrutiny Work Planning Event was held on 20th May 2019, to which all Members of 
the Scrutiny Board and Cabinet Portfolio Holder/s were invited to attend. The Scrutiny 
Board considered potential items for inclusion in its annual Work Programme 2019/20. 
Following detailed discussions and advice from senior Officers, Members identified 
the items detailed in Appendix A for inclusion in the Scrutiny Boards Work Programme 
2019/20.

3.2 The topics identified relate to the Council’s Key Programmes and Priorities and how 
scrutiny of them will support delivery of those Key Programmes and Priorities. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

mailto:mmistry@solihull.gov.uk


Attached at Appendix B is a summary of the Council Plan on a page. The following 
web link will take Members to the full Council Plan 2018-2020:

3.3 http://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/ourvision-priorities/councilplan

3.4 Some flexibility is retained to add further topics should the need arise, and to 
undertake  joint scrutiny work where a topic crosses over the remit of more than one 
Scrutiny Board. Some of the areas where cross-cutting have been identified include;

 Autism 

 Mental Health and Transitions 

 STP (particularly in respect of maternity and best chance in life)

Previously this Scrutiny Board has been able to carry out evidence-gathering activities 
prior to a Scrutiny Board meeting to support ascertaining information about a particular 
topic area and this might be something that they might want to continue to persue. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 The Scrutiny Board is required to approve its Work Programme 2019/20 so that 
scrutiny work can formally commence.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 To enable the Scrutiny Board to consider and approve a work programme for the 
2019/20 municipal year

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? 

☐ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

☐ Managed Growth - 

☐ Build Stronger Communities - 

☒ Deliver Value - 

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 The work programme provides the opportunity for Members to scrutinise the services 
being provided for children, young people and vulnerable groups.

Page 28

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/ourvision-priorities/councilplan


6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 The Scrutiny implications are detailed in Appendix A.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 There are no financial implications arsing directly from the content of this report.

6.5 Legal implications

6.5.1 Scrutiny work is undertaken in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2000, together with the various Statutory Instruments, made under 
that Act.

6.6 Risk implications

6.6.1 None directly arising from this report.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 Scrutiny work is undertaken in accordance with the Council’s statutory Equality Duty.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix A: Scrutiny Board Work Programme 2019/20

7.2 Appendix B: A summary of the Council Plan on a page.

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



$luhoghch.docx

Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Work Programme 2019-2020 

Topic Purpose/key areas of Inquiry Desired outcomes/link to 
Council 

programme/priority

Key witnesses, methodology 
and other considerations

Technical  Support Cabinet 
Lead 

Member

Meeting date

1 Scrutiny 
Board Work 
programme

To consider the proposed work programme 
for 2019-20 and offer any other topics of 
interest

To agree the initial work 
programme

Report and discussion Mala Mistry Scrutiny 
Officer

CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

4 June 2019 

2 Children’s 
Services 
Priorities

For the Scrutiny Board to consider the 
elements of the new programme for 
Children’s Services included in the refresh 
of the Council Plan for 2019-20

New Council Plan 
programme for Children’s 
Services

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Overview from the Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder

Report with more detail on each 
of bullet points in the Council 
Plan programme for Children’s

Louise Rees, Phil 
Leivers, Frank 
McSheffrey

CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

4 June 2019

3 Local 
Children’s 
Safeguarding 
Partnership 

To hear from David Peplow, LCSP about 
the new arrangements and key priorities 

To consider how scrutiny 
can have a stronger role in 
the safeguarding agenda. 

Link to Council priority 4

Report (David Peplow)
Consider presentation?

Is there an opportunity for 
Board Members to observer 
future LCSP meetings?

Steve Ecclestone / David 
Peplow (Business 
Manager and Chair, 
LCSP)

CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

4 June 2019

4 Off-Rolling 
in Education/ 
Inclusion 

For the Scrutiny Board to follow up on 
issues raised in November 2017 in respect 
of off-rolling in education. To look at School 
Exclusion and the Home Education Service 

To make recommendations 
on respect of inclusivity in 
education

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Report 

*Possible visit to a school to 
consider this issue.  

Phil Leivers / Bev Petch CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

12th September  2019 – Education theme

5 SEND 
issues and 
Update on 
the Autism 
Free School

For the Scrutiny Board to consider SEND 
issues and follow up on January 2019

 Capacity 
 ECHP 

For the Scrutiny Board to have oversight of 
the development of the autism free school 
and SEND education matters

To make recommendations 
to improve services for 
children and young people 
with SEND issues.

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Report

*Independent evidence 
gathering by Board Members re 
Parent Carer Forum, Service 
users to be undertaken before 
the Board meeting.

Phil Leivers / Ann Lowe/ 
Steve Fenton/Ann 
Pearson

CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

12th September 2019

6 Support to 
Looked After 
Children / 
Foster Carers

For the scrutiny Board to follow up on how 
LAC are being supported in key areas of 
transition 
Education and employment
Move for foster placement to social 
housing 

Explore with foster carers how they offer 
support with LAC/Care Leaver Transitions 

To make recommendations 
to improve LAC/Care Leaver 
transitions 

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Report / presentation 

Could involve OVOS / Foster 
Carers

*Independent evidence 
gathering by Board Members re 
OVOS, Foster Carers, Social 
workers to be undertaken before 
the Board meeting.

Frank McSheffrey / Alecia 
Oliver-Adams/Natalie 
Goulding

CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

5th November 2019 

P
age 31



$luhoghch.docx

Topic Purpose/key areas of Inquiry Desired outcomes/link to 
Council 

programme/priority

Key witnesses, methodology 
and other considerations

Technical  Support Cabinet 
Lead 

Member

Meeting date

7Family 
Support 
Service to 
include how 
the LA   
supports the 
wider 
exploitation 
agenda

For the Scrutiny Board to consider how 
well this service is working and the impact 
and effectiveness of the new service.

For Scrutiny to consider wider exploitation 
arrangements and their effectiveness

To make recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member.

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Report

*Independent evidence 
gathering by Board Members to 
Family Support Service and 
speak to staff / service users 
and visit Exploitation and visit 
Missing Team to be undertaken 
before the Board meeting

Frank McSheffrey CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

5th November 20 19

8 Children’s 
Mental Health 

For the Scrutiny Board to follow up on 
issues they recommended for action in 
March 2019 and consider to what extent 
mental health support for CYP has 
improved looking in particular at the 
following;
 Mental health information 
 Support for primary schools 
 Support for parents 
 School nursing service 

To make recommendations 
to improve LAC/Care Leaver 
transitions 

Link to Council priority 3 and 
4

Report

*Independent evidence 
gathering by Board Members to 
be undertaken before the Board 
meeting. 

Julie Hackett CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

13th January  2020

9 Budget 
proposals

To receive an update on the current 3 year 
MTFS and to consider proposals relating to 
the Portfolio for the 22-23 Budget.

To make recommendations 
to Cabinet in respect of the 
report contents

Link to Council priority 3

Report  Stuart McHale CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

13th January  2020

10 Education 
outcomes

For Scrutiny Board to consider the 
educational performance across the 
Borough. Progress on School to school 
improvement. Review the skills agenda to 
include apprenticeships

To make recommendations 
to Cabinet Member

Link to Council priority 4

Report / presentation
SSAAB 

Phil Leivers CPH 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills

12th  March 2020

*Technical Support Officers to provide possible dates for independent evidence gathering for Members to consider.

It was also noted that there was likely to be an Ofsted Inspection in the near future, the results of which would need to be included in the Board’s work programme.

P
age 32



Planning	and	
delivery	for	
Solihull's	low	
carbon	future

Making	the	best	
use	of	our	people	
and	physical	

assets

Developing	and	
delivering	our	

approach	to	services	
for	adults	and	children	
with	complex	needs

Managing	
demand	and	
expectation	for	
public	services

Securing	
inclusive	
economic	
growth

1 2 3 4 5

UK	Central

Skills

Strategic	Housing	
Framework

The	Green	Prospectus	
(with	a	focus	on	green	
infrastructure,	transport	

and	environment)

Creating	the	
conditions	for	
communities	to	

thrive

Digital

Solihull	Together

Adult	Social	Care	
transformation

Autism

The	Employee	
Journey

A	corporate	
approach	to	

delivering	an	asset	
master	plan

Solihull	Council	Plan	2018-2020
A	step	to	2020,	A	Stride	to	2025...

Pr
io
rit
ie
s

Pr
og

ra
m
m
es

ENABLERS
Resource	allocation

Business	Operating	Model
Employee	wellbeing

How	we	communicate,	engage	and	seek	to	influence	

Our	Purpose: Our	Vision: Our	Values:

	'Great	Lives	and	Great	Services':
	To	be	an	organisation	that	
improves	lives	by	delivering	

great	services

Where	everyone	has	an	equal	chance	to	be	healthier,	
happier,	safer	and	prosperous	through	growth	that	creates	

opportunities	for	all

Open,	honest,	clear,	approachable	
and	keeping	our	promises

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes - 14th  March 2019
	5 Children Services, Education and Skills Priorities
	6 New Local Children's Safeguarding Partnership arrangements
	7 CSESSB Work Programme 2019/2020
	Appendix A Education Work Plan 2019-2020 DRAFT
	Appendix B - Council on the Page


